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          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Good morning.

          3  Thank you for taking the time to attend today's

          4  hearing of the Council's Subcommittee on

          5  Immigration. Before we go into the hearing, I should

          6  like for the Policy Analyst, Mr. Nathan Riley, to

          7  make an opening statement.

          8                 MR. RILEY: Just for the point of the

          9  record, an invitation list was prepared by the

         10  Council with input from all of us, and invitations

         11  went out to Washington, various agencies in New

         12  York, and there were several people who testified on

         13  this legislation before Congress who wanted to

         14  attend this hearing, but either they were in

         15  Macedonia dealing with that particular crisis or had

         16  family medical problems or things like that.

         17  Needless to say, the Immigration Naturalization

         18  Service was not eager to deal with critical

         19  questions about this legislation where their own

         20  views are extremely ambivalent on it.

         21                 And I just wanted to make clear that

         22  every effort was made to reach all interested

         23  parties.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Thank you, Nathan.

         25                 Sorry for our tardiness but we are
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          2  trying to give other persons who may be providing

          3  testimony some time to be here, but it is not fair

          4  to keep you waiting.

          5                 Today we will address the issue of

          6  how federal immigration policy as created America's

          7  fastest growing prison population, specifically this

          8  hearing will examine the impact of the illegal

          9  immigration reform, an Individual Responsibility Act

         10  of 1996 on the conditions of detention and the civil

         11  liberties of immigrants and asylum seekers in the

         12  United States.

         13                 The Subcommittee is eager to hear the

         14  testimony of the immigrant and human rights

         15  activists who are responding to the challenges posed

         16  by this law.

         17                 This hearing is inspired largely by

         18  various representations made to my office over the

         19  past several months on this issue, and an article

         20  written by a Ms. Lisa Solomon in a March 30th issue

         21  of the Village Voice. In her article Ms. Solomon

         22  noted, and I quote, "that immigrant detainees are

         23  the fastest growing segment of America's exploding

         24  jail population. Their numbers have tripled to

         25  16,400 since 1994, and the Immigration and
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          2  Naturalization Service predicts that they will hit

          3  24,000 by the Year 2001.

          4                 It is no surprise then that the INS

          5  is a major player in the country's prison building

          6  boom, putting up and expanding its own detention

          7  facilities across the country and signing even more

          8  voluminous contracts with private prison companies."

          9                 Ms. Solomon cites various reports by

         10  international agencies, including Human Rights

         11  Watch, Amnesty International, the United Nations

         12  High Commissioner for Refugees, who have charged the

         13  INS with unjust detention policies.

         14                 Today we have invited representatives

         15  of the INS and more than a dozen advocacy

         16  organizations to explore this issue.

         17                 It is a complex one encompassing

         18  various categories of immigrants, would-be

         19  immigrants and prisons, an persons seeking political

         20  asylum. It is our understanding that a substantial

         21  proportion of those currently detained are lawful

         22  permanent residents who have been convicted of

         23  crimes within the United States and persons who are

         24  asylum seekers.

         25                 It is our hope that today's hearing
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          2  will provide some meaningful elimination of

          3  intricacies involved in this issue and provide us

          4  with an appropriate plan of action for rendering

          5  relief to those who are unfairly affected by the

          6  application of this law.

          7                 I should like to thank you once more

          8  for taking time out to attend this hearing before we

          9  invite our first person to testify, I would like to

         10  recognize the presence of Mr. Carl Smith, who is the

         11  Counsel to this Subcommittee on Immigration, Mr.

         12  Nathan Riley, who is the Policy Analyst, members of

         13  my own staff, Carmine who is the Sergeant-At-Arms,

         14  and as time goes on hopefully we will have the

         15  presence of some other Council members who have

         16  indicated an interest in this hearing.

         17                 I should now like to invite Ms. Mary

         18  McClenahan, who is representing the Catholic Legal

         19  Immigration Network, to kindly come forward.

         20                 For the record, if you could

         21  reintroduce yourself and if you have any written

         22  testimony, that you would like to share with us, you

         23  may do so at this time.

         24                 Welcome, again.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Your microphone is
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          2  not on.

          3                 MS. McCLENAHAN: There. My name is

          4  Mary McClenahan, and I am a staff attorney at

          5  Catholic Legal Immigration Network Detention

          6  Project. I have been representing detainees at INS

          7  detention facilities of New York and New Jersey for

          8  over two years.

          9                 I don't have written testimony for

         10  you today, but I will forward that as soon as

         11  possible.

         12                 I would like to give you some

         13  background on the two facilities in New York City.

         14  There is Wachenhut Detention Facility (phonetic) in

         15  Queens, and Varrick Street Facility, which is right

         16  up the street here in Manhattan.

         17                 Both hold about 200 people. Wachenhut

         18  Facility is mostly asylum seekers, people who have

         19  arrived at the airport asking for refuge here. Those

         20  people are all non-criminals. The Wachenhut Facility

         21  holds people who none of them have a criminal

         22  background.

         23                 The Varrick Street Facility, most of

         24  them are either undocumented immigrants or former

         25  legal permanent residents who are now deportable

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            8

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  because of crimes they have committed. These are

          3  people who have served their time and are now

          4  getting ready to be deported.

          5                 The facilities are hard to recognize

          6  because if you haven't been there, they are kind of

          7  disguised. The Wachenhut Facility is a former

          8  warehouse, a big brick building with no windows, and

          9  when I tell people how to recognize it if they are

         10  going there, I say look for the cameras that are

         11  mounted on the corners of the building. It is the

         12  only way to tell.

         13                 The Varrick Street Facility is even

         14  harder to recognize. It is a post office and if you

         15  go to the fourth floor, there is a big 200-bed jail.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: For the record, I

         17  would like to point out that we have been there.

         18                 MS. McCLENAHAN: Okay, good.

         19                 I think the two biggest problems with

         20  immigration detention in New York City are, number

         21  one, the New York District INS' parole policy, and

         22  number two, the conditions in which people are held.

         23  In both of these topics, the New York District INS

         24  does not follow the INS' own national policy.

         25                 New York City has the dubious
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          2  distinction of being the worst place for an asylum

          3  seeker to arrive at the airport asking for political

          4  asylum, and this is because of the New York

          5  District's parole policy.

          6                 About eight years ago Congress

          7  realized that there was a need for some way to

          8  parole non-criminal asylum seekers out of detention

          9  once they arrived in the US seeking asylum.

         10                 They implemented something called the

         11  APSO Program (phonetic), and this is something that

         12  the New York District has refused to recognize for

         13  eight years now, and they continue to refuse to

         14  parole people.

         15                 We realize that the INS cannot simply

         16  parole everyone who arrives here out into New York

         17  City or wherever without any sort of controls. That

         18  is why Congress in 1996 implemented what is called a

         19  credible fear interview. Now every asylum seeker

         20  that arrives at Kennedy Airport, they go to this

         21  Wachenhut Detention Facility and have to pass the

         22  credible fear interview, which is a screening

         23  interview, and if they can pass that interview, and

         24  if they have relatives who are citizens or legal

         25  residents who could provide for them and take care
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          2  of them while their cases are pending, the INS

          3  headquarters says those people should be paroled,

          4  not kept in jail.

          5                 However, the New York district has

          6  the harshest parole policy of any district in the

          7  country for asylum seekers and they have

          8  consistently refused to parole the vast majority of

          9  the people coming through.

         10                 This is a big problem because of the

         11  conditions in which they are held.

         12                 The facility at Wachenhut does not

         13  have any place for the people to go outdoors. What

         14  passes for outdoor recreation -- have you been

         15  there?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Yes.

         17                 MS. McCLENAHAN: Okay, so you have

         18  seen what kind of outdoor recreation there is, a big

         19  courtyard with a chainlink fence over the top and

         20  cinderblock walls. Asylum seekers who are held there

         21  don't have any kind of recreational activities or

         22  classes or things that criminals in jails usually

         23  get.

         24                 I read that the uni-bomber gets to go

         25  in a courtyard and have outdoor rec every day and
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          2  these people, they don't have the same kind of

          3  privileges.

          4                 The medical care is substandard.

          5  Detainees complain again and again that they can't

          6  communicate with the medical care providers in their

          7  own languages, they are only given Tylenol.

          8  Depression is a huge problem and suicide attempts

          9  are fairly common, more common than you think.

         10                 The Varrick Street facility has

         11  similar problems. People in Varrick Street have no

         12  outdoor recreation whatsoever, forget a courtyard.

         13  They also have no catholic religious services, which

         14  is something I am aware of just because I work for a

         15  Catholic agency. Up until January a priest was

         16  coming in and giving mass every Sunday, and that was

         17  ended in January, the priest gave no explanation of

         18  why he can't continue to come in.

         19                 Religious services and outdoor

         20  recreation are something that detainees are supposed

         21  to be entitled to according to the INS standards and

         22  guidelines that were published last May.

         23                 The problems of parole and conditions

         24  have been raised with the INS again and again and

         25  they just don't seem to care. One reason there is a
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          2  problem is because the facility is supposed to be

          3  for short-term detention, but actually many people

          4  stay there for long periods of time.

          5                 I have a client who has been in

          6  Varrick Street for a year and a half now. He is in a

          7  wheelchair and he is 59 years old.

          8                 I have a friend who has a client who

          9  has been in Wachenhut for about two years now. So,

         10  these facilities need to have recreational

         11  activities, they need to have better outdoor access

         12  and the parole policy for asylum seekers needs to

         13  change.

         14                 Those are my comments. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Yes, you did cite

         16  the conditions here in New York, how is it in other

         17  parts of the country, the ports of entry?

         18                 MS. McCLENAHAN: It varies a great

         19  deal.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: You said it is

         21  pretty harsh here and it is about the worst, could

         22  you give us an idea as to how it is in other areas?

         23                 MS. McCLENAHAN: The parole policy is

         24  the worst for asylum seekers. If I could talk to an

         25  asylum seeker when they were still in Liberia or
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          2  Kosovo or whatever, I would say get an international

          3  flight going into Miami, because Miami paroles

          4  people very easily.

          5                 New Jersey is similar to New York, a

          6  little bit better, and --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: California?

          8                 MS. McCLENAHAN: California paroles

          9  more people than New York does, although they are

         10  not great either.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Texas?

         12                 MS. McCLENAHAN: Texas is very liberal

         13  but you don't get a lot of asylum seekers down

         14  there.

         15                 The conditions are different, I just

         16  was in Texas yesterday. In Texas their detention

         17  facility has a big outdoor yard where they can go

         18  outside whenever they want to. They are not

         19  confined.

         20                 Another problem with this detention

         21  facility, the reason I think New York conditions are

         22  so bad is because the people are stuck in one room

         23  22 or 23 hours a day, and they never get to really

         24  see the sky except for this one hour in the

         25  courtyard. Other detention facilities have their own
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          2  room with a roommate instead of being stuck in this

          3  big room with 40 other people.

          4                 In the room where they are with 20 to

          5  40 other people, they have to shower or go to the

          6  bathroom, eat, do everything in front of all of the

          7  other people, there is no privacy at all.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Could you give us

          9  some ideas of the cost factor of, you know,

         10  providing for a detainee?

         11                 MS. McCLENAHAN: It is very expensive.

         12  I regret that I don't have the figures with me right

         13  now. I believe it costs something like 14,000 a year

         14  or 20,000 a year to hold a detainee, but I can get

         15  back to you with the exact information.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Normally how long

         17  does it take for us to process a detainee?

         18                 MS. McCLENAHAN: Okay, an asylum case

         19  usually takes between three and six months from when

         20  a person enters to when the case is granted or

         21  denied.

         22                 The big problem happens when people

         23  want to appeal their cases, because appeals take

         24  between six and 12 months, so a long enough time

         25  that you don't want to be sitting in a prison the
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          2  whole time.

          3                 As far as being deported, that can

          4  happen quickly. If you are a person with a criminal

          5  conviction, you can be deported, that can happen

          6  within a month, or it can take longer if they can't

          7  get travel documents for your client.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Advocacy role, you

          9  play an advocacy role, you know, in their respect,

         10  but to what extent do the other agencies provide

         11  advocacy? And here I am referring mainly, you cited

         12  Catholic religious services, and you also mention

         13  that you don't know why the Catholic, Roman Catholic

         14  priests no longer provides services, have you

         15  explored the reason why?

         16                 MS. McCLENAHAN: Yes, we have written

         17  several times to the INS about this, and in fact the

         18  head priest at this church, St. Anthony of Padawa,

         19  has tried to call the INS numerous times. The person

         20  who had set up the service wouldn't accept his calls

         21  and finally the secretary called back and said he

         22  had to write, she wouldn't talk to him on the phone.

         23                 As far as advocacy, there are

         24  numerous groups that are getting involved in

         25  detention more and more, especially the New York
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          2  Immigration Coalition.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: According to our

          4  research here, we have highlighted the countries

          5  that have the greatest number of deportation. This

          6  is the 1998 information, and we notice that the

          7  majority of Mexico, El Salvador, Guatemala,

          8  Honduras, Dominican Republic, Jamaica, Columbia,

          9  Canada, Ecuador, Peru, now to what extent do the

         10  permanent representatives of these countries

         11  advocate on behalf of their citizens?

         12                 MS. McCLENAHAN: I know that the

         13  Mexican Consulate is very active in trying to help

         14  Mexicans in detention, but other than that I haven't

         15  been aware of much advocacy on their part,

         16  especially the people in Wachenhut are seeking

         17  Asylum, so the last thing they want is contacts with

         18  their government, because most of them are fleeing.

         19                 MR. SMITH: You spoke of the apparent

         20  conflict between the New York District's policies

         21  and the INS' policies, why does that conflict exist?

         22                 It appears almost as if each district

         23  can operate somewhat autonomously.

         24                 MS. McCLENAHAN: That has continuously

         25  surprised me since I started doing this work that
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          2  each district has so much power and autonomy they

          3  can basically do what they want. To some extent they

          4  have to follow the national guidelines, but the INS

          5  headquarters I don't think makes enough of an effort

          6  to keep their districts under control.

          7                 MR. SMITH: Isn't there a mandate, a

          8  federal mandate, that each district should operate a

          9  certain way and follow the federal guidelines? And

         10  how do they enforce that?

         11                 I mean, it just seems to me that it

         12  is too loose a policy to allow each district to

         13  basically operate on their own and set their own

         14  rules and regulations concerning the parole

         15  procedures and when it is granted and when it is

         16  not.

         17                 MS. McCLENAHAN: That's a good point.

         18                 The problem is that the National INS

         19  headquarters puts out general policy recommendations

         20  but still allows the districts the discretion to do

         21  what they want in specific cases, so that it ends up

         22  being very loose. And as far as enforcement, there

         23  is not the enforcement mechanism to -- for example,

         24  this problem with the priest not being able to come

         25  in and give services, you don't know how many times
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          2  they have written and called, it just takes so much

          3  effort to enforce one -- advocates like me have to

          4  try and do the enforcing instead of the INS itself.

          5                 MR. SMITH: Is there any effort to

          6  perhaps bring the various regions together, the

          7  directors of the regions and discuss policy, perhaps

          8  coming forth with some recommendations for a uniform

          9  system whereby certain rules and regulations should

         10  be adhered to and specific policies should be

         11  followed?

         12                 MS. McCLENAHAN: I did attend a

         13  detention liaison meeting with several INS district

         14  directors in the eastern region and discussed policy

         15  back in January, but there was no real effort to try

         16  and make it more uniform, that I could see.

         17                 MR. SMITH: Thank you.

         18                 MS. McCLENAHAN: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: So far we have

         20  been assuming that most of these detainees or all of

         21  them are illegal immigrants, but we do have those

         22  who are permanent legal residents. What light could

         23  you shine on that?

         24                 MS. McCLENAHAN: Those are the

         25  detainees on Varrick Street, and they run the gamut.
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          2  It is people who are illegal residents who have

          3  committed crimes that make them deportable. And it

          4  is a very harsh new law that came out in 1996 that

          5  made it, it is retroactive so that crimes that

          6  weren't deportable when they were committed, say

          7  back in '85 or '89 now make the person deportable.

          8  So, you have people who maybe were convicted for

          9  selling marijuana back in the eighties and now they

         10  are reformed, they have a life here, maybe you have

         11  a US citizen wife, maybe children that they are

         12  supporting, and they go to become a citizen or they

         13  travel abroad or they do anything that would bring

         14  them to the attention of the INS and they get put in

         15  handcuffs, sent to Varrick Street and deported.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Does this law

         17  require that sponsors of these legal immigrants be

         18  responsible for the financial well-being of the

         19  legal immigrants?

         20                 Are these provisions being enforced?

         21                 MS. McCLENAHAN: I think so. The law

         22  right now says that if a legal immigrant of a US

         23  citizen is sponsoring a relative, that perhaps has

         24  to sign an affidavit of support making them

         25  responsible for the financial needs of the relative.
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          2  And although I mostly do deportation cases in court

          3  which don't involve that, as I understand that is

          4  being implemented, yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: How does the INS

          6  determine if a person faces persecution because of

          7  the criticisms of their own governments? If a person

          8  faces prison for their political beliefs, will he or

          9  she be eligible for amnesty?

         10                 MS. McCLENAHAN: Yes. It is a question

         11  of proving that case in court.

         12                 First there is a credible fear

         13  interview where a trained INS asylum officer

         14  interviews the refugee and tries to determine

         15  whether they have what is called a credible fear of

         16  persecution, and that is just an interview that

         17  happens right after they arrive in the country, and

         18  then to actually prove their case to win asylum they

         19  have to go to court and try and win that case in

         20  front of an immigration judge. To prove this they

         21  have to submit evidence that helps them meet their

         22  burden of proof, whether it is letters from their

         23  country, documents from their country, newspaper

         24  articles, whatever.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: What legal
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          2  representation does one have, a detainee, to prove

          3  that case?

          4                 MS. McCLENAHAN: It is not easy.

          5  Detainees in removal proceedings do not have the

          6  right to a public defender the way a criminal would,

          7  or someone accused of a crime would. There are

          8  several private attorneys and non-profit agencies

          9  that represent asylum seekers in court, and we have

         10  a need for more representation because most of them

         11  don't have enough money to pay lawyers and there is

         12  a lot of work to do in even one of those cases.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Is there any

         14  precedent under international law for deporting

         15  legal residents for crimes, such as drinking and

         16  driving, tax or vice offenses involving moral

         17  turpitude.

         18                 MS. McCLENAHAN: I can't answer that

         19  question, I don't know.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: We should like to

         21  recognize the presence of Al from the

         22  Administration. Welcome.

         23                 MR. MULLEN: Thank you.

         24                 MR. RILEY: Have there been any court

         25  decisions that have increased the amount of due
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          2  process since the law passed in '96?

          3                 MS. McCLENAHAN: Well, it was such a

          4  broad law, in fact there were two laws that passed

          5  since then, it is hard to say. Do you mean in the

          6  area of say, for example, asylum seekers, or some

          7  people with similar conditions?

          8                 MR. RILEY: I mean both of those. I am

          9  talking about the process of expediting removal and

         10  the inability to contest the determination of the

         11  INS?

         12                 MS. McCLENAHAN: Well, I don't think

         13  we have gotten very far in that department.

         14                 The law that implemented expedited

         15  removal was called IIRIRA, it was a short term,

         16  instead of trying to give the long name, and that

         17  law actually limited judicial review of itself, and

         18  to challenge expedited removal, a lawsuit had to be

         19  brought within, I think it was 30 days or 60 days of

         20  the implementation of the law. A few lawsuits were

         21  filed, I think the ACLU was one of the plaintiffs

         22  and they were all dismissed. Three of them were

         23  filed and they were dismissed.

         24                 MR. RILEY: In your work with the

         25  asylees, are you able to bring habeas corpus
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          2  proceedings or anything like that?

          3                 MS. McCLENAHAN: That is an

          4  interesting question. I have two clients for whom --

          5  the office has three clients for whom we would very

          6  much like to bring habeas petitions, but I work for

          7  a non-profit agency and we try to help as many

          8  people as possible, a habeas petition would be far

          9  too much work for me to do because it would mean

         10  that I couldn't help so many other people.

         11                 So, actually I have asked my boss for

         12  permission to do this and he has told me know

         13  because we don't have the resources.

         14                 MR. RILEY: Can you farm the work out

         15  to the large lawfirms?

         16                 MS. McCLENAHAN: I am trying, and if

         17  you have any suggestions, I would appreciate it.

         18                 MR. RILEY: I don't.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: In essence the way

         20  you have described conditions in these two

         21  facilities would give one the impression that these

         22  are not really detention centers, but are surely

         23  prisons.

         24                 MS. McCLENAHAN: I would say it is

         25  just like a prison. People wear jumpsuits and the
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          2  security is very high. There are frequent headcounts

          3  and searches and there are electric doors, it looks

          4  like a prison to me.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: What are the

          6  populations like in these two facilities?

          7                 MS. McCLENAHAN: Do you mean in terms

          8  of where they are form or?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: No, the

         10  population, total.

         11                 MS. McCLENAHAN: Oh, about 200 in

         12  each.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Two-hundred in

         14  each.

         15                 MR. RILEY: And the overflow goes to

         16  Pennsylvania or wherever?

         17                 MS. McCLENAHAN: That's right, often

         18  Pennsylvania to regular jails. And in fact, some

         19  people are happy when they get to go to the regular

         20  jails in Pennsylvania because they have an exercise

         21  yard, even though they are mixed with criminals

         22  there.

         23                 MR. RILEY: Legally the detainee has

         24  less rights than a prisoner.

         25                 MS. McCLENAHAN: That's right. The
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          2  constitution doesn't apply to detainees the same way

          3  it does to citizens, although some of them have more

          4  rights than others.

          5                 MR. RILEY: Were the Japanese who were

          6  interned during world war II, are they in the same

          7  legal category as these people?

          8                 MS. McCLENAHAN: They are in the same

          9  legal categories as some of them, but I have to say

         10  that was way before my time.

         11                 MR. RILEY: I see.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Doesn't it vary

         13  according to, you know, categories, just categorized

         14  as the way you should go -- depending on the type of

         15  crime committed, which facility?

         16                 MS. McCLENAHAN: No.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Or are they all

         18  dumped into the 200 in each facility which

         19  represents different categories?

         20                 MS. McCLENAHAN: The murderers and the

         21  shoplifters are all in there together. I don't think

         22  it varies, according to the type of crime committed.

         23                 Although we do have Varrick Street,

         24  which is mostly people with a criminal background,

         25  and then Wachenhut, people with no criminal

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            26

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  background, but that is the only --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Do you have any

          4  statistics in terms of sexes, how many males,

          5  females, in these facilities?

          6                 MS. McCLENAHAN: Well, they both hold

          7  both males and females, but Wachenhut and Varrick

          8  Street have a majority of male population. I don't

          9  know exactly what the statistics are, but I believe

         10  they have something like 20 female beds, something

         11  like that. Not so many females. The women are often

         12  sent to Pennsylvania.

         13                 MR. RILEY: In your experience, are

         14  people being deported with like a civil shoplifting

         15  record or an E felony conviction from many years ago

         16  and things like that?

         17                 MS. McCLENAHAN: That definitely

         18  happens. I have to say that I work on asylum cases

         19  mostly and I don't have firsthand experience, but I

         20  know that that happens, sure. That is the law and it

         21  happens.

         22                 Something just occurred to me, if the

         23  INS were here to testify, I have an idea of what

         24  they might say and I would like to make that point

         25  and then refute it.
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          2                 As far as paroling asylum seekers,

          3  the district director in New York has made the point

          4  to us that before the detention center was built,

          5  before Wachenhut was built, asylum seekers used to

          6  come into the airport and they would be let right

          7  out of the airport and then they would be told to

          8  come back for their hearing in court and then they

          9  would never show up. And he said there was something

         10  like a 90 percent absconscion (sic) rate, which is a

         11  big problem admittedly, but what he doesn't say is

         12  that the law has changed since then and there is

         13  much less abuse of the asylum process than there

         14  used to be. Since that 90 percent absconsion rate

         15  there has been asylum reform and starting in 1995,

         16  anyone who filed for asylum no longer got an

         17  automatic work permit, so that really cut the

         18  incentive for fraudulent asylum cases, and I believe

         19  that if people were paroled now the absconsion rate

         20  would be far below 90 percent. In fact, the New

         21  Jersey District Director did a study of the

         22  absconsion, meaning the rate of people who don't

         23  show up for their hearings, because this is starting

         24  in '97 and '98 of the people that she paroled and I

         25  believe it was about 75 percent, so I think the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            28

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  reform has taken care of that problem to a large

          3  extent.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: You did say in

          5  your testimony that it takes an average of about

          6  three to six months for one to be processed, do you

          7  have any sort of evidence of detainees exceeding

          8  that time?

          9                 MS. McCLENAHAN: You mean for it

         10  taking longer?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Yes.

         12                 MS. McCLENAHAN: Sure, I know of cases

         13  that it has taken longer than that time, people who

         14  are on appeal and even the initial case can take

         15  longer than six months, it all depends on maybe they

         16  go for the hearing and the judge is sick that day,

         17  maybe they go for the hearing and the person doesn't

         18  have the evidence they need and it gets put over,

         19  there are lots of reasons why a case can be

         20  adjourned and put over and it takes longer than six

         21  months, sure.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Another area of

         23  concern is the relationship between the governments,

         24  if one wishes, the government wishes to deport, you

         25  know, certain individuals who repatriate to their
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          2  countries of origin and they are reluctant on that

          3  part of the country of origin to take that person

          4  back, given the reality that that detainee, if that

          5  person is a legal resident would have been here for

          6  most of his or her life; have you had such cases?

          7                 MS. McCLENAHAN: Yes, I have. And it

          8  is a real problem.

          9                 I have a client in Varrick Street who

         10  is Jamaican, he has lived here for, gosh, I think

         11  about 1969. He has got a US citizen wife, US citizen

         12  kids, and Jamaica won't take him back, he is sort of

         13  stuck. This is the person who I mentioned to you who

         14  has been there for a year and a half, he is just

         15  stuck there.

         16                 We have a client who applied for

         17  asylum from Sudan and lost his case. He is supposed

         18  to have been deported for six months now -- I am

         19  sorry, for three months now and they can't get him

         20  out. He is just stuck in Wachenhut and he could be

         21  there for months more. So that is another problem,

         22  people who are supposed to be deported but can't.

         23                 MR. SMITH: When you mentioned the

         24  fact that they are stuck where they are, I mean how

         25  does that situation get resolved? It has to be
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          2  resolved eventually. They can't stay there forever.

          3                 MS. McCLENAHAN: I have two clients in

          4  the Elizabeth Detention Center in New Jersey who

          5  lost their asylum cases and they have no criminal

          6  background, China won't take them back. They are

          7  Chinese. China won't take them back. The one guy has

          8  been there for a year -- I am sorry, two years and

          9  three months, and the other has been two years and

         10  two months, so believe me, I don't know when these

         11  things get resolved because.  In fact, I am waiting

         12  for almost two and a half years and INS still won't

         13  release my clients and China still won't take them

         14  back.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: That is one of the

         16  reasons why we ask that question concerning families

         17  of these legal, you know, immigrants who have been

         18  detained, is a financial responsibility or it is

         19  solely that of the INS?

         20                 MS. McCLENAHAN: A financial

         21  responsibility you mean to pay for their detention?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Yes.

         23                 MS. McCLENAHAN: Oh, no, it is us.

         24  When I answered I was talking about people who were

         25  sponsoring their relatives for the first time to
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          2  come over, but the detention is paid for by us, the

          3  taxpayers.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Thank you so much

          5  for your testimony.

          6                 MS. McCLENAHAN: Thank you so much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Our second

          8  testimony will be heard from a person who is no

          9  stranger to us, of this Subcommittee, Dr. Henry

         10  Frank, who is representing the Haitian Centers

         11  Council, he is the Executive Director.

         12                 Could you kindly come forward? If you

         13  have any written testimony that you would like to

         14  share with us, if not, just identify yourself again

         15  for the record and proceed with your testimony.

         16                 Welcome.

         17                 DR. FRANK: Good morning.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Good morning.

         19                 DR. FRANK: My name is Henry Frank, I

         20  am the Executive Director of the Haitian Centers

         21  Council.

         22                 I am very pleased to be here this

         23  morning. I will say that my testimony is going to be

         24  very short, you know, brief, because I realize that

         25  the lady that was there before me covered a lot of
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          2  ground. She got in most of the things that I was

          3  going to speak on.

          4                 Concerning immigration of the

          5  Haitians, you know, themselves, the tribulations

          6  that they have been subjected to, I think it is a

          7  sin as all other refugees or all immigrants in

          8  search of justice our immigration policy has created

          9  America's fastest growing prison population. This is

         10  the title of the article of the 1999 issues of the

         11  Village Voice that has in fact inspired today's

         12  hearing, according to the Chair of this

         13  Subcommittee, Reverend Henry.

         14                 Firstly, let me commend for such

         15  inspiration the Village Voice for addressing such an

         16  important issue. For too long the immigration policy

         17  for incarcerating hundreds of asylum seekers and

         18  others, so-called, unwanted aliens, without the

         19  necessary calls have been the norm (sic).

         20                 A few years ago the Haitian Centers

         21  Council, in collaboration with the National

         22  Coalition for Haitian Rights, had to take drastic

         23  legal action against the immigration policy of the

         24  federal government, that was responsible for the

         25  incarceration of hundreds of patients at Guantanamo
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          2  Base in Cuba.

          3                 So, those people in fact they were

          4  punished because they are fleeing tyranny in their

          5  native country. Fortunately, we won the case and all

          6  the detainees were released.

          7                 We concur with the Village Voice

          8  article that the immigration policy has created a

          9  faster prison population. This article in fact is a

         10  code by Elizabeth Llorente the article of April 11,

         11  1999, in the Bergen Record, entitled Asylum Seekers

         12  Live In Jail-like Condition. That article was

         13  combined with a report entitled Shackled In The Land

         14  Of Hope, focusing mainly on the existing conditions

         15  at these detention centers in New Jersey, which

         16  those conditions are no different from conditions at

         17  the Varrick Facility in New York, where there is a

         18  sizable number of Haitians.

         19                 If the immigration policy has always

         20  been a thorn in the sides of immigrant population,

         21  the Act of 1996 has brought more ammunition in the

         22  immigration existing now.

         23                 As a result, there are close to 300

         24  cases of young Haitian males and about ten females

         25  in immigration detention, after already serving time
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          2  in the local prison.

          3                 It is to note that the numbers were

          4  taken four months ago, now they must be doubled.

          5  They don't include detainees or the asylum seekers.

          6  They are mainly in the New York Metropolitan area, I

          7  am speaking of those detainees. And actually last

          8  time I was approached by the Consul General of

          9  Haiti, asking us in the Committee, especially the

         10  centers, to help her regarding so many detainees

         11  that they have sent some of the records to her for

         12  the petition.

         13                 The problem is a very critical

         14  problem that this Committee can in fact address this

         15  kind of issue. It is a fact that there are a lot of

         16  young Haitians, young Caribbeans coming here at a

         17  very early age, four years, five years old, and

         18  reach the age of 25, 26, and committed some crimes,

         19  and those people have been in fact acquiring all of

         20  those bad habits here and then at this age they are

         21  subject to deportation in those islands.

         22                 What happened there, I will now

         23  present to you while I am talking to you, Haiti is a

         24  mess and mostly regarding those young people that

         25  were sent back. A lot of them of course are in jail
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          2  here, but those who are sent back really tend to

          3  destroy the fabric of the Caribbean society. They

          4  case is not only in Haiti, it is in Jamaica, in most

          5  of the places of the Caribbean islands.

          6                 The thing that we have never known

          7  before, the use of guns, the killings sometimes,

          8  there are seven to eight killings a week in Haiti.

          9  So, I think these reflect the policy not only

         10  immigration, but regarding the 1996 law, or act,

         11  that came about, this is really unfair. It is unfair

         12  to those young people, to all of those people,

         13  because they, themselves, did not even know the

         14  language, the native language, Creole or French or

         15  whatever, they don't know anything about the culture

         16  and they are forced to be sent over there in a

         17  foreign land, at the same time in this country

         18  themselves they are victims of the bad habit

         19  acquired by those young people. So, it is a big

         20  mess.

         21                 I personally, I have advised the

         22  Consul General, and as well as the people of Curacao

         23  themselves to try to address the issue at the level

         24  of the federal government. But I don't know, we

         25  here, if the Subcommittee can actually bring about
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          2  some aspects of that issue, because it is critical.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: I just want to

          5  point out for the record that we did hold a prior

          6  hearing with all of these permanent representatives

          7  to address that same issue.

          8                 And also, you alluded in your

          9  testimony to those who are detained, the detainees

         10  at Guantanamo Bay, that constituted our first

         11  hearing of this Subcommittee on Immigration, through

         12  our advocacy and that of others, that that situation

         13  was addressed.

         14                 You also alluded in your testimony to

         15  over 300 males and ten females being incarcerated, I

         16  prefer to use that term, incarcerated, other than

         17  being detained, you know in houses of detention, are

         18  you referring to here in the Metropolitan area,

         19  Varrick Street and the other house of detention?

         20                 DR. FRANK: Yes, mostly Varrick

         21  Street, and a few of them in Elizabeth, but mostly

         22  in New York.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Do you have any

         24  evidence, information on the total Haitian

         25  population that are being detained?
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          2                 DR. FRANK: You mean the asylum?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Yes.

          4                 DR. FRANK: No, I don't have it, but I

          5  know it is sizable.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Because according

          7  to this report that we have, Haiti doesn't fall into

          8  the first ten categories. They are not among the

          9  first ten.

         10                 Another question I should like to ask

         11  is, those who have been, Haitians who have been

         12  intercepted international or national waters, some

         13  have been brought to the United States and those two

         14  are being detained, do you have any ideas to how

         15  many and how they are being processed?

         16                 DR. FRANK: I think that the process

         17  is very slow, but I may say that lately most of the

         18  people that have been caught, you know, a good deal

         19  of them were sent back and for that you have read

         20  the story of the young child that came here on the

         21  wheel of a plane, that is something that we could

         22  not understand how that child was not killed, but

         23  automatically he came at Kennedy Airport, he was

         24  sent back automatically. They did not even try to

         25  have that child health-wise or anything.
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          2                 The fact is that there is a tendency

          3  now for government to say that now they have

          4  democrats in Haiti, so which means the people that

          5  come here, they will send them back while that to

          6  much of us nothing has changed, you know, in Haiti.

          7  So there are a lot of people -- that child, I think

          8  he was 14 or no more than 16, once he get there they

          9  put him in jail and he was accused of being a

         10  terrorist. So there are a lot of cases this way, but

         11  here we know that they have a lot of detainees that

         12  the process has been very slow, but we are very

         13  pessimistic in terms of them acquiring any kind of

         14  asylum here because the thought here is that they

         15  have democrats in Haiti and those people have to go

         16  back. A lot of people are being prosecuted in Haiti

         17  and we at the Center are reviewing the cases of many

         18  of them that came and cannot come back because their

         19  life is in danger.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: In terms of the

         21  Haitian population, is your agency the only one that

         22  advocates on their behalf, or do you have other

         23  agencies, say in Florida, given the fact that most

         24  of the detainees, Haitian detainees would be made in

         25  the Florida, Miami area, do you have any other
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          2  agencies, such as your own that advocates on their

          3  behalf, and if that is the case, do you network with

          4  them?

          5                 DR. FRANK: Yes, there are some

          6  agencies that involve advocating for the refugees

          7  and asylum seekers. Down here there is the National

          8  Coalition for Haitian Rights, which is an agency in

          9  terms of helping the refugees, and we all work very

         10  closely together.

         11                 As I mentioned earlier in this

         12  testimony, the lawsuit that we had against the

         13  federal government, it was in collaboration with

         14  that organization.

         15                 We all, you know, try to get together

         16  to try to resolve some of the conflicts problems,

         17  that we have in the immigration itself.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: So you do provide

         19  some kind of legal services or assistance to them?

         20                 DR. FRANK: Yes, we do.

         21                 And one thing that I would like to

         22  add, I would like the Subcommittee to address this

         23  issue, and this, again, is something very critical.

         24  We have hundreds of young Haitians, I am sure that

         25  it is true also for other groups, ethnic groups,
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          2  that came here very early. Some of them, they came

          3  with parents and parents died, others came in boats

          4  and those parents died on sea and all of that, and

          5  they have gone to high schools, they have done

          6  wonderfully, but when they get the limit of 12th

          7  grade and having their high school diploma they are

          8  stopped. We realize that it is in fact a waste of

          9  brain, those young people cannot go to college. It

         10  is awful. They most of the time come to my office

         11  crying, waiting to learn, but since they are not

         12  legal here, and we don't know what kind of mechanism

         13  we should try for them to have legally here, this is

         14  something very sad and there are many of them in the

         15  public school here.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Thank you. I think

         17  that strengthens our argument for Amnesty 2000.

         18                 Are there any other questions?

         19                 If not, thank you, Dr. Frank, for

         20  your testimony.

         21                 DR. FRANK: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Is there any other

         23  testimony to be heard? Is there anybody else who is

         24  here to testify?

         25                 All right, so that concludes our
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          2  testimonies. I should like to thank you again for

          3  time spent and for your input in this most important

          4  hearing. As we often say, it continues, this is not

          5  the end of it and we wish for all of you an

          6  enjoyable afternoon.

          7                 Thank you, again.

          8                 (Hearing concluded at 11:20 a.m.)
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